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In 2005, Halcrow improved turnover 
by almost 15 per cent, compared 
with 2004. 

The year saw a clear focus on 
business improvement, through client 
relationships, better bidding and 
project management. 

Our refreshed vision and strategy is 
taking us forward in a structured 
way, and sets out ambitious targets and 
guidance on our approach to growth. 
Every employee received a copy of this 
forward-looking document. 

We measured our successes  
during the year through a third 
major client survey in the UK, 
as well as surveys in Australia 
and the Middle East. These are 
benchmarks on the road 
of continuous improvement 
and indicators to clients that 
we are investing time and 
effort in maintaining and 
improving our relationships 
with them. 

Our better bidding programme 
successfully influenced a large 
number of major bids, helping us 
focus our efforts and deliver results. 
This programme will see further 
developments in 2006. 

Project Excellence engaged more 
project managers and directors to 
improve our project management. 
Employees were also encouraged to 
employ its principles in their annual 
career development reviews. 

A key part of our business improvement 
is our ongoing change programme, 
Act now!. The year saw two major 
Act now! summits where we 
addressed many of the issues facing 
us. 2006 started with our first Act now! 
summit outside the UK in Al Ain, 
Abu Dhabi. 

The programme has engendered a 
greater understanding of how to improve 
our business and how to align our 
activities with our vision and strategy, as 
well as the initiatives in place to help us. 

We publish regular Act now! updates via 
the chairman’s business update, which is 
emailed to all employees. The benefits of 

the programme have been recognised by 
clients such as the Highways Agency, as 
well as partners and other organisations.

Under the business improvement 
umbrella, we introduced a people 
programme to address the issues that 
came out of the 2004 staff survey and to 
ensure we retained our accreditation as 
an investor in people. 

Our success with Investors in People 
in the UK was an important benchmark 
and a significant achievement for 
the company. The assessors had 
many positive things to say about 

the company and helped us to 
identify areas in which to focus  
our improvement activities. 

The assessors visited Halcrow offices 
around the UK and praised the attitudes 
of our people, saying that they enjoy 
the work they do, feel involved in the 
affairs of Halcrow and are keen to help 
the organisation develop and grow 
its reputation. 

They also said Halcrow’s values are 
widely understood and that people 
readily accept that these inform and 
drive its strategy and the behaviour 
of its employees. 

Other key strengths identified were 
our open and trusting management 
style and our effective internal 
communications. 

Significantly, Halcrow was one of the 
first companies to be assessed using 
the new, more challenging, IIP Profile 
framework. Halcrow exceeded the basic 
standard in most areas and significantly 
exceeded the standard and national 
benchmark in the areas of empowerment 
and development. 

One area for improvement the assessors 
identified was corporate responsibility 
and 2005 saw some notable progress 
in this area. 

The tsunami in south-east Asia at the 
close of 2004 saw the generosity of 
Halcrow people come to the fore. In a 
co-ordinated effort, our employees 
raised almost £40,000, which the 
company matched. 

Our people work in places around 
the world where they can see their 
skills could provide practical help to 
those in need. To capture the momentum 

of the tsunami appeal and 
offer a structured route to enable 
people to act, the company 
decided to create the Halcrow 
Foundation, a charity through 
which our efforts can 
be managed.

To ensure its longevity, the board 
of directors approved regular 
funding of 0.5 per cent of annual 
profit before tax for the foundation, 
on top of employee donations. 
The company is also committed 

to providing time and resources for 
foundation activities.

We expect to achieve charitable status 
for the Halcrow Foundation before 
the end of 2006, but the generosity 
of our people has already funded the 
construction and equipping of a pre-
school in north-east Sri Lanka; the 
construction of homes in Galle in Sri 
Lanka; and the rehabilitation of homes 
in Banda Aceh in Indonesia. Projects in 
the pipeline include a latrine system for 
a slum community in Nairobi and clean 
water supply and sanitation facilities for 
6,000 people in Malawi.

In summary, 2005 was a demanding 
and satisfying year. Our success is 
due to the commitment and hard work 
of Halcrow people around the world 
who have laid the foundations 
for continued improvement 
throughout 2006. 

 

 
Tony Allum CBE 
Chairman

Chairman’s statement

2005 had a clear 
focus on business 
improvement, through 
client relationships, 
better bidding and 
project management
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Our vision and strategy 
Our principles 
Our purpose  
Sustaining and improving the quality of people’s lives

Our values 
• bringing imagination to all we do
• delivering on our commitments
• advancing our skills and experience
• enjoying what we do

Our conduct 
• act with integrity
• be open and honest 
• respect the dignity of others
• share knowledge freely

Our goal 
Become recognised as the consultant that clients and partners 
naturally seek out when addressing their greatest challenges
For more about our vision and strategy, visit  
halcrow.com/vision_strategy

Employee shareholding  

In December 2005, at ifsProShare’s 

annual awards ceremony, Halcrow 

received the award for best overall 

performance in fostering employee 

share ownership (1,001 to 10,000 

employees). This is the premier award 

for our size of company.

The judges were impressed by 

Halcrow’s strong belief in employee 

share ownership, saying, “Halcrow 

stormed ahead of the competition in 

this category.”

Halcrow offers a range of 

opportunities to invest in Halcrow 

shares, including its internal share 

market, the sharesave scheme 

and the company share option 

plan. The company also has 

plans to introduce a dividend 

reinvestment plan. 

The percentage of employee 

share ownership continues to rise and 

at the end of 2005 stood at almost 

19 per cent of employees. During 

the year, the company gained 98 

new shareholders through the two 

internal markets. Further shares were 

purchased as a result of the sharesave 

scheme maturity in September 2005. 
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Chief executive’s report
Turnover in 2005 grew by 15 per 
cent, helped by our two acquisitions 
in North America. Although profits, 
at £10.5 million, are only marginally 
behind 2004 (£10.6 million), profitability 
before adjustments relating to 
new accounting standards was 
significantly up, with higher profit-
related bonuses for employees. 

The proportion of our work outside the 
UK grew, with 40 per cent of turnover in 
our international regions. This reflects the 
board’s decision to develop a more 
diverse portfolio of work, balancing market 
risks across different geographic areas. 
North America is now a significant market, 
with turnover more than doubling 
compared to 2004, complementing our 
Middle East business.

Accounting standard FRS 17 was adopted 
for the first time in 2005, a major change 
in how pension costs and liabilities are 
reported. A consequence is that pension 
deficits must be shown as a long-term 
liability on the balance sheet rather than as 
a note to the accounts. 

For Halcrow this means our balance 
sheet shows negative equity, but this 
is an accounting change and does 
not change the ongoing viability of 
the company. We continue to fund 
our pension schemes in accordance 
with the schedules of contributions 
agreed with scheme trustees and our 
actuarial advisers. 

Another consequence is that we 
report higher profits because pension 
contributions, in respect of past deficits, 
are no longer shown in the profit 
and loss account.

Our business groups

Consulting
Profits improved by 11 per cent in the year 
in an increasingly competitive environment, 
with a strong performance again from 
urban planning, significant growth in 
transportation planning and increased 
volume of environmental business. 

The team had a good year with frameworks 
for UK local authorities and Transport for 
London. We also rebid for all our water 
certification work and now command 
40 per cent of the UK market.

In planning, our work with English 
Partnerships saw us lead a number of large 
residential development projects in Milton 
Keynes and Northampton.

Our economics and business consulting 
team was reappointed, without 
competition, to a major asset management 
framework with Heathrow Express, across 
a variety of disciplines. 

This team also helped to improve the way 
young offenders are managed in Britain, 
delivering a performance monitoring 
system to the UK’s Youth Justice Board, 
and took on a due diligence PPP project 
in Abu Dhabi and a survey of the highways 
market in China.

The environment team carried out the 
Asbestos Survey of the Network Rail 
Scottish and Western regions for Dean 
and Dyball. 

Outside the UK, we saw significant 
wins in transportation planning in North 
America and some major urban planning 
commissions in the Yemen and China.

Maritime
This was the first year of operation for 
this business group, formed by merging 
our maritime business with that of our US 
acquisition, Han-Padron Associates (HPA). 

It was a difficult year for Maritime, with 
all regions reporting lower profits than 
anticipated. Creating a new business 
group and integration were more 
time-consuming and expensive than 
anticipated and some significant 

UK and US projects were deferred. 
The end of the year, however, saw strong 
work-winning performance and results early 
in 2006 show a significant improvement.

In the Middle East we are involved in 
numerous projects, contributing to the 
strategic expansion and development 
of the region’s maritime facilities. 
Projects include marine and land 
infrastructure at Shahid Rajaee in Iran, 
Khor Fakkan container terminal in 
Sharjah and the ambitious expansion 
of Jebel Ali port in Dubai. 

Our market-leading position in maritime 
services in the region also won us the 
contract to develop infrastructure, marine 
and petrochemical facilities at Ras Laffan, 
Qatar, to make it a leading liquefied natural 
gas export facility.

In the USA, Jacksonville Port Authority 
(Jaxport) chose Halcrow HPA to develop, 
design and manage the construction of a 
new container terminal at the Dames Point 
Marine Terminal, the largest port terminal 
project in the city. 

Property
With the benefit of a full year’s profits 
from our Canadian acquisition, Yolles, the 
property team recorded a 67 per cent 
increase compared to 2004. Excluding 
Yolles, profits grew by a healthy 10 per cent. 

The acquisition of Yolles increased our 
market share and delivered anticipated 
profits. Most regions delivered higher 
earnings and gross margins, with a good 
platform of work entering 2006.
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The management team incorporated 
the equity from the Yolles and Halcrow 
brands. It launched Halcrow Yolles in 
September and identified geographical 
and technical areas where it has a 
competitive advantage. 

In rapidly expanding Qatar, we completed 
our work on the flagship West Bay 
complex. Work continued on Qatar 
Education City, and in Doha Bay we 
are designing the external works and 
landscaping construction for the Museum 
of Islamic Art, designed by I M Pei. We 
have also been appointed adviser for 
various packages for the new Doha 
International Airport.

Key senior appointments enhanced the 
Dubai team, which won residential, office, 
hotel and airport commissions. 

In the USA, the team is providing structural 
engineering services for a number of major 
mixed-use developments. In Canada, 
the team is working on Toronto’s new 
20,000-seat National Soccer Stadium; 
Winnipeg’s interactive Canadian Museum 
for Human Rights; and the state-of-the-art 
St Catharines General Hospital.

Our newly combined expertise won various 
structural design appointments in the UK, 
including Gallowgate Tower in the north-
east of England. 

The BAA framework agreement yielded  
commissions at various UK airports. 

Our portfolio of private finance initiative 
(PFI) healthcare projects was boosted by 
commissions in the UK and we completed 
research facilities for the universities of 
Dundee and Glasgow.

In the growing PFI education sector in 
Scotland, we won schools commissions 
in South Ayrshire and Falkirk, as well as 
appointments to framework agreements 
with the universities of Reading and Bath.

In the leisure sector, our work continued 
on the £42 million refurbishment of 
Wembley Arena. 

Transportation
Our transportation business group 
performed well, significantly exceeding 
its budget. 

The rail team saw a strong recovery in 
the UK and Australia, reporting turnover 
and gross profits 40 per cent higher than 
in 2004. 

Rail Link Engineering, the joint venture 
delivering the Channel Tunnel Rail 
Link, continued to perform strongly, 
with the project on schedule for 
delivery in 2007. 

Deferrals of significant projects and a lighter 
workload than anticipated for the highways 
team pushed down turnover and 
profits, but it started 2006 with a strong 
workload, with projects in the UK and 
around the world.

The team won a number of crucial tenders 
with key clients, including two major 
four-year frameworks with the Highways 
Agency. Around 30 commissions and 
frameworks Halcrow already has with this 
client are now incorporated into these 
two frameworks.

At Wembley in London, Halcrow 
designed two landmark footbridges 
over local rail services for crowds visiting 
the new Wembley Stadium, working 
with a range of stakeholders to deliver 
the bridges. 

For the M60 widening scheme, one of the 
UK’s largest highways projects, Halcrow 
carried out the detailed design, delivering 
extra capacity along 7.5km of Manchester’s 
orbital motorway. 

Halcrow is also leading a joint venture 
checking the detailed design of the 
12.3km-long Incheon Bridge in South 
Korea, due for completion in October 
2009. The crossing comprises a  
cable-stayed bridge and 10.8km 
of viaducts. 

Our airports team won a fast-track 
commission for Abu Dhabi International 
Airport, significantly expanding our role in 
this major scheme. 

Water and utilities
A strong end to the year saw an on-budget 
performance, with most market sectors 
performing well, despite work volumes 
being lower in the UK.

The team overcame resource issues, 
attracting 70 new staff in the last six 
months of the year. 

The other half of the Halcrow Water 
Services joint venture changed ownership 
during the year.

The retention of the National Engineering 
and Environmental Consultancy Agreement  
framework contract with the Environment 
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Agency was an important achievement. 
Halcrow is one of six consultants providing 
services over the next four years. 

The team won extensions to the Clyde 
Flood Management Strategy from 
Glasgow City Council and the WaveHub 
design development project.

It also completed a ground-breaking 
project in Romania to bring improved 
water services to the country’s small and 
medium-sized towns.

We are involved in some major projects 
in Libya, including the Great Manmade 
River Project, two major irrigation pumping 
stations at Sirte and water pipelines at 
Abu Ziyyan.

Our regions

Middle East
This was our top-performing region in 
2004 and continued to perform well into 
2005. Project winning was strong across  
all our sectors. 

Halcrow was commissioned to undertake 
the master planning, traffic planning and 
engineering design of a major extension 
to the Dubai Creek, linking a number of 
urban developments.

Our work on the Grand Mosque in Abu 
Dhabi entered its fourth year, supervising 
the works and providing design input. 
Completion is expected in 2007. 

In Sharjah, the highways team completed 
its design and construction supervision 
work for the Al Nahda Link Road and 
phase one of the Sharjah Ring Road. 
This was closely followed by the opening 
of the 77km extension of the Emirates 
Road Freeway to Ras Al Khaimah.

Further commissions include the 
design and supervision of a number 
of road and junction improvements in 
Sharjah and the design for the King 
Abdul Aziz Road. 

In Ras Al Khaimah we completed the 
design of the Al Jais Mountain Road and 
are enabling access to one of the highest 
peaks in the UAE where an open-air ski 
resort is planned. 

Our multi-disciplinary skills are in 
demand in the northern emirates on a 
number of private-sector infrastructure 
developments, including studies, planning, 
design and construction supervision. 

Halcrow has undertaken the detailed 
design and construction supervision of a 
new dual seven-lane bridge over the creek 
in Dubai, near the Al Garhoud Bridge which 
Halcrow designed in 1977. 

The computer-aided design team in Dubai 
remains strong, delivering low-cost design 
to meet local and global needs. A further 
design centre was established in Karachi, 
Pakistan, where the team designed 14 
residential districts of Sharjah City.

Europe (outside UK)
In mainland Europe, we’re building our 
business from four main centres: Latvia, 
Romania, Poland and Ireland. We have a 
joint venture, Halcrow Barry, with J B Barry 
and Partners in Ireland and part ownership 
of a company in Hungary.

In the Republic of Ireland we won a 
major design-and-build contract and two 
roles as client’s representative on major 
inter-urban highway schemes, as part of 
our joint venture. Halcrow Group Ireland 
Limited secured significant railway and 
airport commissions and our recently 
established office in Dublin enables 
us to develop more opportunities in the 
Irish market. 

For example, Halcrow is the preferred 
bidder to provide safety and quality reviews 
for the design and manufacture of inter-city 
passenger coaches for Irish Rail.

We also established a permanent 
office in Poland where we are targeting 
railway work and transportation and 
water projects.

As well as rail and water projects in 
Romania, we secured several substantial 
environmental assignments with OMV-
Petrom SA, the country’s largest gas and 
oil business. We also won a contract to 
review the structure of the country’s rail 
container terminals. 

In Latvia, Halcrow is preparing designs 
and tender documents for water and 
wastewater infrastructure in 19 towns to 
improve water services for over 100,000 
people and reduce the environmental 
impact of wastewater discharges into 
Latvia’s rivers.

Asia and Australia 
We set up our wholly foreign-owned 
enterprise in China in 2005. This allows us 
to trade as a permanent establishment in 
China, open up subsidiaries in other cities 
and repatriate funds. 

Our highways team in China has been 
providing expertise on a number of highway 
projects, contributing to China’s plans to 
open up its central and western regions.

Completed in May 2005, the Dong Hai 
or Eastern Ocean Bridge is one of the 
world’s longest sea crossings and an 
important part of the Shanghai Yangshan 
deepwater port project. Halcrow provided 
technical advice on design, construction 
and maintenance. 

On the back of the massive growth in the 
Indian economy, we doubled our staff 
numbers in India for the second year in a 
row, with further growth expected in 2006. 

The team won a hydropower project at 
Alaknanda and port feasibility studies 
on the east and west coasts. Halcrow’s 
special structures experts in Glasgow are 
supplying a three-dimensional thermal 
model for the Ghatghar dam, part of the 
Bowal Nang Priag Hydropower scheme.

In Australia, our share of the rail market 
grew strongly and, following the 
appointment of some key personnel, we 
saw a resurgence of water commissions. 

Americas
The business continues to grow in North 
America. Our two strategic acquisitions 
have increased the expertise we can offer 
and the markets open to us. 

In the maritime sector, a new office in 
Houston enables us to concentrate on the 
oil and gas energy markets. 

The merger of Yolles and Halcrow, 
extensively reported in the press, was well 
received. Staff numbers have grown to 
meet increasing demand. 

The transportation and consulting teams 
recently won a further tranche of work on 
the Texas Department of Transportation 
trans-Texas corridors. It is one of the first 
major public private partnership (PPP) 
transportation contracts in the USA. This 
is a growth area in North America and 
important to Halcrow, as we bring a unique 
set of skills and experience to the market. 

Our team assisted lenders with the 
acquisition of the Chicago Skyway Toll 
Bridge, which raised Halcrow’s profile and 
secured us further work on the Pocahontas 
Parkway and Indiana Toll Road. 

We have also had considerable success in 
transportation planning work in Canada. 
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Halcrow is 
in a strong 
position to 
move forward 
and achieve 
the vision and 
targets 
we have set 
for ourselves

A development in this market is our 
acquisition in February 2006 of TSi, a 
Vancouver-based transportation planning 
consultancy. We have worked with TSi for 
several years and established the team 
as one of the leading traffic and revenue 
advisers in the PPP market in Canada. 

Halcrow continues to grow in Chile, with 
increased staff numbers, turnover and 
client base. Work is primarily in the water 
sector, including design and construction 
supervision work for six water companies.

An improved Argentinian economy saw 
Halcrow win more water supply and water 
resources work, including the prestigious 
Buenos Aires drainage master plan. 

The maritime expertise within HPA 
enabled us to significantly increase 
our ports commissions in Central and 
South America.

UK
Halcrow was involved in three 
projects which were finalists in the Prime 
Minister’s Better Public Building Award, 
part of the British Construction Industry 
Awards 2005: Boscastle Flood Defence 
Scheme, Sladesbridge Flood Defence 
Scheme and the A470 Cardiff to Glan 
Conwy Road.

The UK South region saw framework 
successes in a number of sectors. 
We now feature on three South West 
Regional Development Agency panels 
for urban design, planning and 
renewable energy. 

Our geomatics team is providing surveying 
services to airport operator BAA over the 
next ten years. 

Transport for London appointed Halcrow 
to a range of projects, including the 
Woolwich extension to the Docklands Light 
Railway, having completed the City Airport 
extension ahead of schedule. 

In addition, The Strategic Rail Authority 
appointed Halcrow as a notified body for 
high-speed rail interoperability across 
Europe, one of nine such organisations 
in the UK. 

Our signalling teams are also working on 
automatic train protection for Northern 
Ireland Railways.

In our UK North region, A-one, Halcrow’s 
joint venture with Colas, had another 
successful year managing and maintaining 

motorways and trunk roads in the north-
east of England for the Highways Agency. 
The team is negotiating a three-year 
extension worth £75 million. 

In Scotland, Halcrow is civil and structural 
engineer and planning supervisor for the 
new Livingston Civic Centre, a significant 
breakthrough into the public sector here. 

We are also designing the Edinburgh 
tram, set to be one of Halcrow’s biggest 
projects in Scotland, and we completed 
the preliminary design for the Edinburgh 
Airport Rail Link.

Construction work on the new Finnieston 
Bridge over the River Clyde has begun. 
Designed by Halcrow, the bridge will 
provide the first new traffic link over the 
river for over 30 years.

To support the Scottish Executive’s 
commitment to minimise the impact 
of travel on the environment, Halcrow 
undertook a detailed study of green travel 
planning throughout Scotland.

Into 2006

The company’s target profit before tax for 
2006 is 12 per cent higher than for 2005, 
with expectations that we can achieve 
a higher level of growth. We entered the 
year with a strong order book and more 
framework contracts, particularly in the UK. 

Work winning is significantly above 
target. In the first quarter we have won 
projects worth over £50 million in Qatar 
alone, continuing our strong growth in 
the Middle East, plus a key win on 
London’s Crossrail project, the largest 
transportation infrastructure project 
planned for the south-east of England in 
the coming years. 

We continue to drive forward business 
improvement and our diversification 
strategy, developing new markets and 
balancing our portfolio across our global 
operations. A major drive to improve cash 
flow is beginning to produce results and we 
continue to review and manage responsibly 
the pension issues we face. 

Halcrow is in a strong position to move 
forward and achieve the vision and targets 
we have set for ourselves.

Peter Gammie 
Chief executive
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The group board

1. Chris Fleming – group board director 
 FREng  FICE  Eur Ing  PhD  BSc   

2. Tony Allum CBE – chairman 
 FREng  Eur Ing  FICE  FCIWEM

3. Les Buck – group board director 
 BSc  CEng  FICE  FIHT  PE

4. Neil Holt – group board director 
 FCIB

5. David Kerr – group board director 
 BSc  CEng  FICE  MIHT

6. Peter Gammie – chief executive 
 BA  FCA  

7. Ken Mair – company secretary 
 FCIS  ACII  

8. Roger Flanagan – non-executive director 
 DSc  PhD  MSc  FCIOB  FICE  FRICS  
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Directors’ report
 The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005. 

1 Principal activity         

 Halcrow Holdings Limited is the holding company for the Halcrow group of companies. The principal activity of the group is the 
provision of services as international consulting engineers.      

2 Group results and transfer to reserves      

 The group made a profit on ordinary activities before taxation of £10,462,000 (2004 (restated): £10,597,000). 

 There was a profit for the year after taxation of £6,449,000 (2004 (restated): £7,029,000) which, after ordinary share dividends 
of £616,000 (2004 (restated): £528,000), resulted in a retained profit of £5,833,000 (2004 (restated): £6,501,000), which was 
transferred to reserves. 

3 Dividend         

 In respect of the year ended 31 December 2005, the directors recommend a final dividend payment of 10p (2004: 10p) per 
ordinary share payable to those members on the register at the close of business on 30 June 2006. This, together with the 
interim dividend paid in January 2006 of 10p (2004: 10p) per ordinary share, gives a total dividend for the year of 20p compared 
with 20p for the year ended 31 December 2004.       

 Approval of the payment of the dividend will be put to the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the company to be 
held on 29 June 2006. The Halcrow Trust has waived its entitlement to both this dividend and to the dividend on its holding of 
preference shares in 2005 and 2004. 

 Under FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date, the financial statements do not reflect this final dividend payable, which will 
be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ended 31 December 2006.

4 Business review and future developments     

 The review of the business is included in the chairman’s statement on pages 2 and 3 and in the chief executive’s report on 
pages 4 to 7.         

5 Share capital         

 During the year, 202,763 ordinary shares of £1 each were issued to staff under the company’s savings-related share option 
scheme. These were issued at the following prices:

 Number Price
 202,763 145p          

 The ordinary share capital of the company at 31 December 2005 was held beneficially as follows:  

 The Halcrow Trust  15,291,481 ordinary shares (81.03%)  
Directors and staff  3,580,532 ordinary shares (18.97%)     

 The ordinary share capital at 30 April 2006 was held beneficially as follows:    

 The Halcrow Trust  15,325,146 ordinary shares (81.21%)  
Directors and staff  3,546,867 ordinary shares (18.79%)     

 The 10,000 preference shares of £1 each were held beneficially by The Halcrow Trust at each of 31 December 2004, 
31 December 2005 and 30 April 2006.        

Halcrow Holdings Limited directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2005
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6 Directors   

 The following served on the board of directors during the period under review and to the current date: 

 A K Allum, chairman 
P G Gammie, chief executive          
L G Buck         
C A Fleming 
N Holt 
D J Kerr  
Professor R Flanagan, non-executive director       

 Sir Michael Angus retired from the board of directors on 31 December 2005 and has not been replaced.  

7 Directors’ interests in shares of the company     

 The interests of persons who were directors at 31 December 2005 in the shares of the company were as follows: 

Ordinary shares of £1

30 April 
2006 

Number

31 December 
2005 

Number

31 December 
2004 

Number

A K Allum 55,599 51,466 51,466

P G Gammie 84,704 84,704 84,704

L G Buck 27,343 27,343 27,343

C A Fleming 69,511 69,511 52,419

N Holt 51,870 51,870 35,997

D J Kerr 21,660 21,660 18,971

M Angus 12,500 12,500 12,500

R Flanagan 4,564 4,564 4,564

Share options
Ordinary shares of £1

30 April 
2006 

Number

31 December 
2005 

Number

31 December 
2004 

Number

A K Allum 15,873 20,006 20,006

P G Gammie 23,764 23,764 23,764

L G Buck  23,712  23,712  22,073 

C A Fleming  3,496  3,496  20,588

N Holt  8,207  8,207  24,080 

D J Kerr 19,999 19,999 22,688

      

Halcrow Holdings Limited directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2005
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7 Directors’ interests in shares of the company (continued)   

 Share options may be exercised as follows: 

Number Option price Exercisable

 A K Allum 
 
 

 4,133 
 

15,873 

189p 
 

189p 

1 Oct 2005 to 
31 Mar 2006 

10 Sept 2005 to 
10 Sept 2012

P G Gammie  1,389 
 

15,873 
 

 6,502  

 177p  
 

189p 
 

 195p  

1 Sept 2006 to 
28 Feb 2007 

10 Sept 2005 to 
10 Sept 2012 

1 Dec 2008 to 
31 May 2009

L G Buck

 
 
 

677 
 

5,523 
 

 15,873  
 

 1,639  

177p 
 

189p 
 

189p 
 

220p 

1 Sept 2006 to 
28 Feb 2007 

1 Oct 2007 to 
31 Mar 2008 

10 Sept 2005 to 
10 Sept 2012 

1 Dec 2010 to 
31 May 2011

C A Fleming   
 
 

 2,554  
 

 942  

  195p  
 

 205p  

1 Dec 2006 to 
31 May 2007 

1 Dec 2007 to 
31 May 2008

N Holt   
 
 
 
 

 3,491  
 

 4,063  
 

 653  

 177p  
 

189p 
 

 195p  

1 Sept 2006 to 
28 Feb 2007 

1 Oct 2007 to 
31 Mar 2008 

1 Dec 2010 to 
31 May 2011

D J Kerr     
 
 

  4,126  
 

 15,873  

  189p  
 

  189p  

1 Oct 2007 to 
31 Mar 2008 

10 Sept 2005 to 
10 Sept 2012

 P G Gammie has a non-beneficial interest in the share capital of the company by virtue of his directorship of Halcrow Staff 
and Services, which is trustee to The Halcrow Trust, as follows:

30 April 
2006

31 December 
2005

31 December 
2004

Ordinary shares of £1  15,325,146  15,291,481  15,841,396 

Preference shares of £1 10,000 10,000 10,000

 Each of the directors also has an interest as a potential beneficiary of The Halcrow Trust. The trust’s objectives include the 
provision of benefits to directors and staff of the company and its subsidiary undertakings. 

Halcrow Holdings Limited directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2005



H a l c r o w  H o l d i n g s  L i m i t e d
A n n u a l  r e p o r t  a n d a cco u n t s 2005

12

8 Subsequent events

 On 31 January 2006 the group purchased 100 per cent of the share capital of Transys International Consultants Limited (TSi), 
a consultancy based in Canada, for a consideration of CA$1,105,000.

 The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 is calculated at 10p on 3,643,000 shares 
(2004: 2,932,000). This is the estimated number of shares that will be held by shareholders eligible to receive the dividend. 
Under FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date, the financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable, which will 
be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ended 31 December 2006.

9 Close company status        

 The company is a close company within the provisions of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.  

10 Annual general meeting        

 The notice convening the annual general meeting, to be held at Burderop Park, Swindon, Wiltshire SN4 0QD on 29 June 
2006, is contained in a circular sent to the shareholders with this report.     

11 Charitable contributions        

 Contributions made by the group during the year for charitable purposes were £43,000 (2004: £21,000). 

12 Employee involvement        

 The policy of the group is one of continuing to develop effective means of consultation and communication within and 
between its operating constituents.        

 Consultation is achieved through a staff council, which is elected by employees and meets on a regular basis. 
Communication is achieved through the availability to employees of regular financial information and in-house magazines and 
the distribution of information relating to the resources, technical developments and achievements of the group. 

 The group believes that employee share ownership is an important factor in employee involvement and it operates an internal 
market through which employees may buy and sell shares. It also operates a savings-related share option scheme under 
which employees may save and acquire shares in the company. 

13 Disabled persons        

 The group’s policy is to give full and fair consideration to applications from disabled persons for positions in which they can 
effectively perform the tasks required. The same opportunities for training, career advancement and promotion are given 
to disabled persons employed by the group as to all other staff, where this is practicable. The employment of those who 
become disabled is continued wherever possible.

14 Employee equity incentive scheme      

 The group operates an employee equity incentive scheme under which directors and certain senior employees are 
encouraged to convert any bonus into shares of Halcrow Holdings Limited. Under the scheme, the recipient of a bonus may 
elect to subscribe for shares at the price offered by the internal market with part or all of the net bonus after tax. Shares 
purchased under the scheme are held in trust for a three-year period and, when they are released at the end of this retention 
period, they are matched by an equal number of shares provided by the group.   

 No shares were issued under the employee equity incentive scheme in the year ended 31 December 2005 (2004: nil).

Halcrow Holdings Limited directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2005
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15 The euro        

 A large proportion of the group’s business is carried out in foreign currencies and the immediate impact of the introduction 
of the euro is not considered to be significant. However, it is recognised that the adoption of the euro by the United Kingdom 
could have significant implications for the group and these will be addressed as they arise.   

16 Auditors        

 Deloitte & Touche LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office and a resolution to re-appoint them will be 
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.       

 Registered Office:     By order of the board 
Vineyard House      
44 Brook Green 
London W6 7BY          

 Registered number:  
1674044     K Mair 
     Secretary  
     25 May 2006

Statement of 
directors’ responsibilities
 United Kingdom company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true 

and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and the group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of 
the group for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:    

  • select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently    

  • make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent     

  • state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, and    

  • prepare the financial statements on a going-concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company 
  will continue in business    

 The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time  
 the financial position of the company and group and enable them to ensure that financial statements comply with the 
 Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for the system of internal control, for safeguarding the assets of the company 
 and the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Halcrow Holdings Limited directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2005 
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Independent auditors’ 
report to the members of 
Halcrow Holdings Limited
We have audited the group and individual company financial 
statements (the financial statements) of Halcrow Holdings 
Limited for the year ended 31 December 2005, which comprise 
the consolidated profit and loss account, the balance sheets, the 
consolidated cashflow statement, the consolidated statement 
of total recognised gains and losses and the related notes 1 to 
36. These financial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out therein. 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 
1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and 
the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report or for the opinions we have formed.  

Respective responsibilities of 
directors and auditors 
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual report 
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and United Kingdom accounting standards (United Kingdom 
generally accepted accounting practice) are set out in the 
statement of directors’ responsibilities.   

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in 
accordance with relevant United Kingdom legal and 
regulatory requirements and international standards on 
auditing (United Kingdom and Ireland).  

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
relevant financial reporting framework and are properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to 
you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with 
the financial statements, if the company has not kept proper 
accounting records, if we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit or if information 
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other 
transactions is not disclosed.  

We read the directors’ report and other information contained 
in the annual report for the above year as described in the 
contents section and consider the implications for our report if 
we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the financial statements.  

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with international 
standards on auditing (United Kingdom and Ireland) issued by 
the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on 

a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made 
by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements 
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 
circumstances of the company and the group, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion, we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the financial statements. 

Opinion  
In our opinion:
   
• the financial statements give a true and fair view, in 
 accordance with United Kingdom generally accepted 
 accounting practice, of the state of the group’s and 
 individual company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005 and of 
 the group’s profit for the year then ended  

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in 
 accordance with the Companies Act 1985  

Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Chartered accountants and registered auditors
Reading       
 

       
25 May 2006

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Halcrow Holdings Limited
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Consolidated profit 
and loss account

Notes
2005 
£000

Restated*  
2004 
£000

Turnover: group and share of joint ventures 
Less share of joint ventures’ turnover 

282,450  
(1,902)

246,223  
(2,242)

Group turnover 
Continuing operations 
Acquisitions  
Cost of sales    

3  
 

 16 

280,548  
264,953  

15,595  
(175,083) 

243,981  
243,981 

- 
(159,882) 

Gross profit 
Administrative expenses   

105,465  
(92,662)

84,099  
(73,618)

Operating profit/(loss) 
Continuing operations    
Acquisitions 

4 
 

16

12,803  
14,091  
(1,288)

10,481  
10,481  

- 

Share of (loss)/profit of joint ventures 
Interest receivable and similar income  
Interest payable and similar charges

 
 
5

(8) 
170  

(2,503)

24  
398  

(306)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 
Tax on profit on ordinary activites

 
8

10,462 
(4,013) 

10,597 
(3,568) 

Profit for the year after taxation 
Ordinary dividends 9

6,449  
(616)

7,029  
(528)

Retained profit for the year 24 5,833 6,501 

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10). 
            

Halcrow Holdings Limited consolidated profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2005



H a l c r o w  H o l d i n g s  L i m i t e d
A n n u a l  r e p o r t  a n d a cco u n t s 2005

16

Consolidated balance sheet

Notes
2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Fixed assets   
Intangible assets    
Tangible assets    
Investments in joint ventures    
 Share of gross assets   
 Share of gross liabilities  
 
Investments in associated undertakings  
Trade investments    

 
11 
12 
13 

 
 
 

13 
14

 
19,121 
19,648 

946 
1,618 
(672) 

 
237 
166

40,118

 
11,968  
17,634  

877  
1,487  
(610) 

 
237  
166 

30,882 

Current assets    
Debtors    
Cash at bank and in hand   
 
     

17 
 
 

 
109,264 

5,870

115,134

88,372  
12,883 

101,255 

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 
(including convertible debentures)    
 

18
 

(89,964)
  

(72,418)

Net current assets   25,170 28,837 

Total assets less current liabilities   65,288 59,719 

Creditors – amounts falling due after 
more than one year  19 (16,993) (14,321)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 20 (2,143) (1,920)

Net assets (excluding pension liability)  46,152 43,478

Net pension liability 32 (73,970) (57,399)

Net liabilities (including pension liability) (27,818) (13,921)

Capital and reserves  
Called up share capital 
Share premium account  
Profit and loss account   

21 
22 
24

18,882 
1,788 

(48,488)

18,679  
1,697  

(34,297)

Total shareholders’ deficit (including non-equity interest) 25 (27,818) (13,921)

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).

 The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 25 May 2006 and signed on its behalf by: 

 A K Allum P G Gammie 
Director Director

Halcrow Holdings Limited consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2005
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Notes
2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Fixed assets 
Investments in subsidiary undertakings  

 
15

 
10,208 

 
10,208 

Current assets    
Debtors 17 19,761 20,112 

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 
(including convertible debentures)    
 

18
 

(78)
  

(90)

Net current assets   19,683 20,022 

Net assets  29,891 30,230 

Capital and reserves  
Called up share capital 
Share premium account  
Profit and loss account   

21 
22 
24

18,882 
1,788 
9,221 

18,679  
1,697  
9,854 

Total shareholders’ funds (including non-equity interest) 25 29,891 30,230 

 *Restated following application of FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).

 The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 25 May 2006 and signed on its behalf by: 

 A K Allum P G Gammie 
Director Director

Company balance sheet    

Halcrow Holdings Limited company balance sheet at 31 December 2005
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Notes
2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 26 7,666 1,280 

Returns on investment and servicing of finance 
Interest and similar income received    
Interest paid    
Interest element of finance lease payments   
 
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from returns on investment 
and servicing of finance   

170  
(1,449) 

(2)

 
(1,281)

398  
(129) 
(19)

 
250 

Taxation  
United Kingdom corporation tax paid    
Overseas tax paid  
   
Total taxation   

 
(2,069) 

-

(2,069)

 
(1,202) 

(174)

(1,376)

Capital expenditure and financial investment  
Purchase of tangible fixed assets    
Disposal of tangible fixed assets    
Purchase of fixed asset investments     
   
Net cash outflow for capital expenditure and financial investment  
 

 
(6,956) 

146 
(79)

(6,889)

 
(6,547) 

53  
(105)

(6,599)

Acquisitions and disposals 
Subsidiary undertaking acquired – Yolles    
 Cash consideration including expenses   
 Cash acquired   
Subsidiary undertaking acquired – Pyramid Development Corporation  
 Cash consideration including expenses   
 Cash acquired   
Subsidiary undertaking acquired – Han Padron Associates LLC  
 Cash consideration including expenses   
 Cash acquired   
Deferred consideration paid – Yolles and Han Padron  

Net cash outflow for acquisitions and disposals   
 

(65) 
-  
 

(81) 
17 

(5,382) 
199  

(1,914)

(7,226)

(5,741) 
1,036  

 
- 
-  
 
- 
-  
-

(4,705)

Equity dividends paid (618) (535)

Cash outflow before financing (10,417) (11,685)

Financing 
Cash inflow from long-term loans  
New finance leases   
Capital element of finance lease payments 
Expenses of loan to finance acquisition of Han Padron Associates LLC 
Issue of ordinary share capital    
Repayment of debentures   
  
Net cash inflow from financing   

- 
22  

(18)  
(25) 
294  
(14)

259

9,862  
- 

(44) 
- 

23  
(8)

9,833 

Decrease in cash in the year 27,28 (10,158) (1,852)

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).

Consolidated cash flow statement

Halcrow Holdings Limited consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2005
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Notes
2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Profit after taxation 6,449 7,029 

Actuarial loss relating to the pension scheme  32 (28,605) (13,553)

Movement on deferred tax relating to pension liability 8,581 4,066

Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year   (13,575) (2,458)

Prior year adjustments   10 (55,588)

Total gains and losses recognised since last annual report and 
financial statements   (69,163)

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10). 
  

Consolidated statement of total 
recognised gains and losses

Halcrow Holdings Limited consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31 
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1 Principal accounting policies     

(a) Accounting convention       
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards.  
The particular accounting policies adopted are described below. Except for the implementation of FRS 17 
Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date, they have all been applied consistently 
throughout the current and preceding year.     

(b) Consolidation       
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the company and all its subsidiary 
undertakings, joint ventures and associated undertakings. Any subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures and 
associates sold or acquired during the year are included up to, or from, the date of sale or acquisition. 

 Intra-group sales and profits are eliminated fully on consolidation. On acquisition of a business, all of the assets and 
liabilities that exist at the date of acquisition are recorded at their provisional fair values, reflecting their condition at 
that date. All changes to those assets and liabilities, and the resulting gains and losses, that arise after the group has 
gained control of the business are charged to the post-acquisition profit and loss account.  

 The group has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 8 Related Party Disclosures not to disclose transactions 
and balances between group companies which are eliminated on consolidation.

 Joint ventures are entities in which the group holds long-term interests and which are jointly controlled by the group 
and one or more other ventures under a contractual arrangement. The results of joint ventures are accounted for 
using the gross equity method of accounting.       

 Associated undertakings are entities in which the group has a participating interest and over whose operating and 
financial policies it exercises a significant influence. The results of associated undertakings are accounted for using 
the net equity method.      

(c) Turnover       
Turnover represents amounts earned for professional services and items procured for clients, adjusted, where 
necessary, for the stage of completion on individual contracts. It excludes value added and similar taxes. 

(d) Recognition of profits       
Profit on contracts for the supply of professional services at pre-determined rates is taken as and when the work is 
carried out, irrespective of the duration of the contract.      

 Profit is taken on fixed-price contracts while the contract is in progress, having regard to the proportion of the total 
contract which has been completed at the balance sheet date. Provision is made for all foreseeable future losses.

(e) Amounts recoverable on contracts       
Amounts recoverable on contracts represent turnover which has not yet been invoiced to clients. Such amounts are 
separately disclosed within debtors.      

 The valuation of amounts recoverable on fixed-price contracts is adjusted to take up profit to date or foreseeable 
losses in accordance with the accounting policy for recognition of profits.     
     
Cost comprises:       
• amounts recoverable valued at the cost of salaries and associated payroll expenses of employees engaged 
 on projects   
• unbilled expenses incurred and equipment purchased for clients in connection with specific contracts

 Where amounts invoiced to clients exceed the book value of work done, the excess is included in creditors as 
payments on account.

Notes to the financial statements

Halcrow Holdings Limited notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

(f) Goodwill       
Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of identifiable net assets 
acquired. Goodwill arising on acquisitions is capitalised in accordance with FRS 10 Goodwill and Intangible Assets. 
Where these assets are regarded as having limited useful lives, they are amortised on a straight-line basis over these 
lives, which range from five to 20 years. No goodwill balance has previously been eliminated against reserves in the 
year of acquisition.

 Goodwill which is held in foreign currencies is re-translated to the closing exchange rate.

 Impairment provisions are determined by comparing the carrying value of the asset with its recoverable amount.

(g) Fixed assets       
Fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation and impairment provisions. Impairment provisions are determined 
by comparing the carrying value of the asset with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
the amount that could be obtained from selling the asset or the value of expected discounted cash flows arising from 
owning the asset.      

(h) Depreciation of tangible fixed assets       
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is by equal annual instalments calculated to write off the cost of each asset over 
its anticipated useful life.      

 The annual rate of depreciation applied to each class of tangible fixed asset is as follows:   
Short leasehold property  Period of lease 
Freehold land    Nil  
Freehold property   1%   
Motor vehicles    25% 
Furniture and equipment 
  Computers  33%   
  Others   20% 

(i) Finance costs       
Interest is written off to the profit and loss account as incurred by all subsidiaries in the group.

(j) Investments       
Fixed-asset investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment. Impairment provisions are determined by 
comparing the carrying value of the investment with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
the amount that could be obtained from selling the investment or the value of expected discounted cash flows arising 
from owning the investment.

(k) Foreign exchange 
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into sterling using the exchange rate applicable at the date of the 
transaction or, if hedged forward, at the rate of exchange under the related forward currency contract. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at year-end exchange rates or, if 
appropriate, at a forward contract rate. All exchange differences are dealt with through the profit and loss account.

 All other exchange adjustments are included in the profit and loss account. These include those arising from the 
translation of the opening net investment in the group’s foreign subsidiaries, as are exchange adjustments arising on 
the translation of foreign currency borrowings used to fund the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries, to the extent that 
they can be matched with exchange adjustments in the relevant net equity investment.

(l) Taxation       
UK corporation tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have 
been enacted by the balance sheet date.       

 Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay 
more tax, or a right to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise, based on 
current tax rates and law. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis. Timing differences arise from the 
inclusion of items in income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from those in which they 
are included in financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely 
than not that they will be recovered.

Halcrow Holdings Limited notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

(m) Pensions       
Benefits are funded by payments to administered funds. 

 The main scheme is the Halcrow Pension Scheme, which provides benefits calculated in relation to final salary.

 For defined-benefit schemes the amounts charged to operating profit are the current service costs and gains and 
losses on settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs. Past service costs are recognised 
immediately in the profit and loss account if the benefits have vested. If the benefits have not vested immediately, the 
costs are recognised over the period until vesting occurs. The interest cost and the expected return on assets are 
shown as a net amount of other finance costs or credits adjacent to interest. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
immediately in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.     

 Defined-benefit schemes are funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the group, in separate 
trustee-administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an 
actuarial basis using the projected unit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a 
high-quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme liabilities. The actuarial valuations are 
obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The resulting defined-benefit asset or liability, 
net of the related deferred tax, is presented separately after other net assets on the face of the balance sheet. 

 For defined-contribution schemes, the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs and 
other post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in the 
year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet. 

(n) Leases       
Payments under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on an accruals basis. Assets funded by 
finance leases are included in tangible fixed assets at their provisional fair value. The excess of lease payments over 
the recorded lease obligations is treated as a finance charge which is amortised over the term of each lease to give a 
constant rate of charge in the profit and loss account over the remaining period of the obligations. 

(o) Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities    
Derivatives are initially accounted and measured at provisional fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and subsequently measured at provisional fair value. The gain or loss on re-measurement is taken to the income 
statement except where the derivative is a designated cash flow hedging instrument.

(p) Changes in accounting policies 
During the year the group has implemented FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance 
Sheet Date and the 2004 accounts have been restated accordingly. Details of the prior-year adjustments are shown 
in note 10.

2 Profit of parent company       

 In accordance with the exemption allowed by S230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss of the parent has not been 
presented. Of the profit for the period attributable to the shareholders, a loss of £16,000 (2004: £17,000 profit) has been dealt 
with in the accounts of the parent. This profit is before dividends paid of £616,000 (2004: £528,000). 
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3 Segmental information        

 The directors consider there to be one class of business. Geographical analyses of turnover, profit on ordinary activities before 
taxation and net assets are set out below:       

Turnover
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

United Kingdom 
East Asia     
North America  
Central and South America    
Middle East     
Europe (excluding United Kingdom)    
South Asia     
Africa     
Australia 

   

167,619  
14,104   
25,927   
9,383 

39,569   
13,201   
3,024   
2,806   
4,915  

280,548  

150,979   
12,588   

2,780   
14,081 
38,560   
15,906   
3,346   
2,889   
2,852  

243,981  

 Geographical segmentation of turnover by destination is not materially different from turnover by origin.

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  
2005 
£000

Restated*  
2004 
£000

United Kingdom 
East Asia     
North America 
Central and South America     
Middle East     
Europe (excluding United Kingdom)    
South Asia     
Africa     
Australia 
 
 
Net interest     

9,230   
(306)  

94 
(410)  
2,193 

75  
117   
160 
591  

11,744  
(1,282)   

6,183   
110 
291 

 598 
1,953   

514 
281 
342   
233

10,505   
92  

10,462 10,597  

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).
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3 Segmental information (continued)

Net assets/(liabilities)    
2005 
£000

Restated*  
2004 
£000

United Kingdom 
East Asia     
North America 
Central and South America     
Middle East     
Europe (excluding United Kingdom)    
South Asia     
Africa     
Australia    

(3,480)  
(3,221)   

(10,069) 
 2,347 

(9,329) 
(644)   

(1,094)   
(471)   
(754)  

(6,021)  
(1,169)   
(4,863) 
2,989 

(4,919) 
(745)   
(236) 

(48)   
(491)

Add: unallocated net (overdrafts)/bank balances   
   

(26,715) 
(1,103) 

(27,818) 

(15,503)  
1,582  

(13,921) 

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).
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4 Operating profit         

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting) 
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Auditors’ remuneration for audit - group  
Auditors’ remuneration for other services - group 
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets - owned  
 - leased

Amortisation of goodwill 
Bad debt expense/(credit)    
(Profit)/loss on sale of tangible fixed assets   
Exchange (gains)/losses    
Operating leases:      
 Plant and machinery     
 Other  

 

159 
176   

5,179  
13   

 
1,235   
1,626   

(36)  
(2,802)  

 
879  

4,862   

155   
45   

4,404   
47   

 
396   
(20)  

10   
644   

 
845  

4,596  

 The group audit fee includes £10,000 (2004: £15,000) in respect of the company.   

 The following amounts of auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services relating to acquisitions have been capitalised in 2005: 
taxation work £62,000, financial assistance work £6,000. 

 The group’s gains and losses included in the profit and loss account in relation to financial instruments held at fair value analysed 
by financial instrument category are as follows:

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Foreign exchange derivatives 
Interest rate derivatives 
 

 
- 

(97) 

(97)  

- 
-

-  

5 Interest payable and similar charges  

Interest payable on    
2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Bank loans and overdrafts payable within five years 
Bank loans and overdrafts payable greater than five years 
Finance leases     
Debentures  
Net interest charge on pension schemes   
All other loans 
Exchange loss on foreign currency borrowings 

 

342 
543   

2 
6 

525   
34   

1,051

2,503  

81 
-   

19   
7 

158 
41 

-

306  

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).
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6 Employee information      

(a) The average number of persons, including    
 directors, employed by the group during the year was 

2005 
Number

2004 
Number

 Professional and technical   
 Administrative   

3,575   
716  

4,291  

3,233 
632  

3,865  

 
 
 
(b) Staff costs during the year were   

 
 

2005 
£000

 
Restated* 

2004 
£000

 Wages and salaries   
 Social security costs   
 Other pension costs 

 

144,821   
9,041   
7,100  

160,962

125,992   
8,612   
5,581  

140,185  

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).

7 Directors’ emoluments

Staff costs include the following emoluments of directors of 
Halcrow Holdings Limited   

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Aggregate emoluments    
Contributions to money-purchase pension arrangement  

 

 
1,036   

16  

1,052  

1,060 
19  

1,079  

 Retirement benefits were accruing to all six executive directors at the year end under the Halcrow Pension Scheme, a 
defined-benefit scheme, in respect of qualifying services.       

Aggregate emoluments include amounts paid to  
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

The highest-paid director 
Emoluments    

  
225  

 
233  

 The highest-paid director had benefits under the Halcrow Pension Scheme as follows:    

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Accrued annual pension at end of year    45  40  

 Three directors excercised share options during the year (2004: one).
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8 Tax on profit on ordinary activities    

2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

United Kingdom corporation tax at 30% 
Current year  
Adjustment to prior-year provision 

 
 

2,391 
  (473)

 
3,513 
(119)  

Less double taxation relief 
1,918    

(55)  

1,863

3,394    
(4)  

3,390

Overseas taxation    
Share of joint ventures’ tax (credit)/charge

Total current tax

729    
(5)  

2,587

309    
5

3,704

Deferred taxation, origination and reversal of timing differences 1,426 (136)

Tax on profits on ordinary activities 4,013    3,568

 The standard rate of tax for the year, based on the UK standard rate of corporation tax, is 30 per cent. The actual tax charge for 
the current and the previous year varies from the standard rate, for the reasons set out in the following reconciliation. 

2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities at standard rate  
Factors affecting charge for the period:    
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  
Pension provision 
Capital allowances less than depreciation   
Other timing differences     
Goodwill amortisation    
Foreign tax charged at higher rates than UK standard rate  
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods  
 

 

10,462  

3,139    
 

297   
35    
40    

(688)    
75    

162    
(473)  

5,409   

1,623    
 

444    
1,592    

117    
23    

-    
24    

(119)  

Total current tax 2,587 3,704

9 Ordinary dividends        

2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Interim paid: 10p (2004: 10p) per ordinary share    
Final paid: 10p (2004: 10p) per ordinary share         
 

 
284 
332   

616   

252 
276   

528   

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).

Halcrow Holdings Limited notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005



H a l c r o w  H o l d i n g s  L i m i t e d
A n n u a l  r e p o r t  a n d a cco u n t s 2005

28

9 Ordinary dividends (continued) 

 The Halcrow Trust waived its rights to dividends payable on its holdings of both ordinary and preference shares in respect of 
both the year ended 31 December 2005 and the year ended 31 December 2004.    

 The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 is calculated at 10p on 3,643,000 shares (2004: 2,932,000). 
This is the estimated number of shares that will be held by shareholders eligible to receive the dividend. Under FRS 21 
Events After the Balance Sheet Date, the financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable, which will be accounted for in 
shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ended 31 December 2006. 

10 Changes to accounting policies    

 FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date have been adopted in the current year. 
The 2004 comparatives have been restated. The impact on the 2004 results is shown below: 

2004 
As previously stated 

£000

2004 
Adjustment 

£000

2004 
As restated 

£000

Consolidated profit and loss account   
 Administrative expenses   
 Interest payable and similar charges  
 Tax on profit on ordinary activities  
 Ordinary dividends   

Consolidated balance sheet    
 Debtors     
 Provisions for liabilities and charges  
 Net pension liability

 Shown in STRGL 
 Creditors   
 Shareholders’ funds   

 
(78,964) 

(148)   
(2,012)   

(598)   
 
 

89,148    
(4,507) 

-   

84,641 
(72,995)   

41,090   

 
5,346 
(158)   

(1,556)   
70    

 
 

(776)   
2,587    

(57,399)

(55,588) 
577    

(55,011)  

 
(73,618)   

(306)   
(3,568)   

(528)   
 
 

88,372    
(1,920)   

(57,399)  

29,053 
(72,418) 
(13,921)  

 In 2005 the adoption of FRS 17 has resulted in a decrease in staff costs of £5,341,000, an increase in other finance costs of 
£525,000, an increase in profit after tax for the year of £3,336,000 and a decrease in total recognised gains and losses of 
£20,024,000.

 In 2005 the adoption of FRS 21 resulted in a decrease in dividends payable of £181,000.

11 Intangible assets – goodwill

Group    £000

Cost   
At 1 January 2005  
Exchange movements    
Acquisitions

 
16,391    

1,287    
7,101   

At 31 December 2005   24,779    

Amortisation     
At 1 January 2005    
Charge for the year 

 
4,423    
1,235

At 31 December 2005   5,658   

Net book value 
At 31 December 2005

 
19,121

At 31 December 2004 11,968
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11 Intangible assets – goodwill (continued)

 The goodwill arises on the purchase of  
 Han-Padron Associates LLC       
 Pyramid Development International Corp Ltd       
 Yolles Partnership Incorporated       
 Yolles Partnership Limited       
 Halcrow Fox and Associates Limited       
 Transportation Systems and Market Research Limited       
 Crouch Hogg Waterman Limited       
 Halcrow Pacific Pty Limited       
 Mechanical and Electrical Design Associates       
 The water engineering design and survey business of Southern Water plc     
 Certain assets of TME Torpy Limited, TME Northern Limited and TME Engineers Limited  

 It is being amortised on a straight-line basis over periods of between five and 20 years. These are the periods over which 
the directors estimate that the values of the underlying businesses acquired are expected to exceed the value of the 
underlying assets.

 Company 
The company has no intangible assets. 

12 Tangible fixed assets 

 
Group

 
Land 

Freehold 
£000

 
and buildings 

Short lease 
£000

 
Motor 

vehicles 
£000

Furniture 
and 

equipment 
£000

 
 

Total 
£000

Cost   
At 1 January 2005   
Additions     
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking  
Disposals   

 
7,801  

352 
55  

-

 
3,565  

194  
-  
- 

 
693  

52 
- 

(134)

 
24,368 
6,358  
1,427  
(743)

 
36,427  
6,956  
1,482  
(877)

At 31 December 2005  8,208 3,759 611 31,410 43,988 

Depreciation   
At 1 January 2005  
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking  
Charge for the year   
Disposals

 
922  
40  
82  

-

 
1,660  

- 
466  

-

 
485 

- 
51 

(46)

 
15,726  
1,082  
4,593  
(721)

 
18,793  

1,122  
5,192  
(767)

At 31 December 2005   1,044 2,126  490 20,680 24,340 

Net book value   
At 31 December 2005

 
7,164

 
1,633

 
121 

 
10,730 

 
19,648 

At 31 December 2004 6,879 1,905 208 8,642 17,634 
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12 Tangible fixed assets (continued) 

 Tangible fixed assets shown on page 29 include fixed assets held under finance leases as follows:  

Net book value at end of year  
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Motor vehicles 
Furniture and equipment 

  
 

-    
-   

-

-    
13   

13   

Depreciation charge for the year  
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Motor vehicles 
Furniture and equipment 

  
 

-    
13   

13

2    
45

47

 Freehold property 
The group’s freehold property at Burderop Park, Swindon, Wiltshire, is included in the balance sheet at its purchase price 
plus the cost of additions. Its purchase price was equal to a valuation by Kemp & Hawley, chartered surveyors, on an 
open-market basis as at 30 April 1990. The latest valuation carried out by Strutt & Parker as at 31 December 2004 
gave a value of £6,250,000. 

 Company 
The company has no tangible fixed assets.       

13 Investments in joint ventures and associated undertakings

Group   £000

Joint ventures 
Cost plus share of retained profit   
 At 1 January 2005    
 Additions     
 Disposal     
 Share of retained profits in the year

 
 

976    
49    

(99)   
20   

At 31 December 2005   946   

Provisions  
 At 1 January 2005    
 On disposal     
 Provided during the year   
 

99    
(99)   

-   

At 31 December 2005   -   

Net book value 
At 31 December 2005

 
946   

At 31 December 2004 877   
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13 Investments in joint ventures and associated undertakings (continued)

 The group acquired a 25 per cent holding in Pyramid Development International Corporation Limited for £52,000 in September 
2002, together with an option to purchase a further 24 per cent within one year. The option was taken up in April 2003 for 
£47,000. The remaining 51 per cent of the shares were purchased on 28 September 2005 and the entity became a subsidiary 
company. The entity was transferred from associated undertakings to subsidiary undertakings.   

Associated undertakings  £000

Cost plus share of retained profit   
 At 1 January and 31 December 2005 

 
237   

14 Trade investments       

Group £000

Cost   
 At 1 January and 31 December 2005 

 
166   

 None of the investments included in the above amounts is listed on a recognised investment exchange. The directors consider 
the market value of the trade investments at 31 December 2005 to be not less than their carrying value.  

15 Investments in subsidiary undertakings     

Company     
Shares in subsidiary undertakings  £000

Cost       
At 1 January and 31 December 2005 

 
11,327     

Provisions     
At 1 January and 31 December 2005 

 
1,119   

Net book value 
At 31 December 2005  

 
10,208   

At 31 December 2004  10,208   

 None of the investments included in the above amounts is listed on a recognised investment exchange. The principal subsidiary 
undertakings are listed in note 36 of the financial statements.       
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16 Acquisition of business

 On 1 January 2005 the group purchased the net assets of Han-Padron Associates LLP of US$5,933,000 for a consideration of 
US$17,015,000, including a deferred payment of US$7,776,000 and acquisition costs of US$1,189,000.

 The provisional fair value of the net assets acquired was as follows:

£000

Tangible fixed assets 
Current assets     
Cash     
Current liabilities 

Net assets acquired    
  

329 
5,573    

199    
(2,645)  

3,456

Consideration 
Cash paid    
Deferred payment    
Interest on deferred payment   
Acquisition costs  

 
 4,689 
4,177    

352    
693

9,911   

Goodwill capitalised (note 11) 6,455   

 The provisional assessment of goodwill arising on the acquisition is being amortised over 20 years, as this is the period over 
which the directors estimate that the underlying business acquired is expected to exceed the value of the underlying assets. 
A charge has been made to the profit and loss account of £323,000 for 2005.    

 There was no difference between the provisional fair value and net book values of the assets and liabilities acquired. 

 A summarised profit and loss account of Han-Padron Associates LLP for the 12 months to 31 December 2005 is shown below:

£000

Turnover  
Cost of sales   

Gross profit  
Administration costs  
Net interest receivable

Loss before taxation 
Taxation   

15,595    
(9,793)  

5,802 
(7,090)   

(45)  

(1,333)   
-   

Retained loss for the period  (1,333)  

 Profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2004 was £760,000.    
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16 Acquisition of business (continued)

 On 28 September 2005 the group purchased the remaining 51 per cent of the issued share capital of Pyramid Development 
International Corporation for a consideration of Bt5,539,000.      

 The provisional fair value of the net assets acquired was as follows:

£000

Tangible fixed assets  
Current assets     
Cash     
Current liabilities    

Net liabilities acquired   

31 
233    

17    
(326)

(45)    

Consideration   
Cash paid    

 
81

Goodwill capitalised (note 11) 126   

 The provisional assessment of goodwill arising on the acquisition is being amortised over 20 years, as this is the period over 
which the directors estimate that the underlying business acquired is expected to exceed the value of the underlying assets.

 There was no difference between the provisional fair value and net book values of the assets and liabilities acquired. 

 A summarised profit and loss account for the three months to 31 December 2005 is shown below:

£000

Turnover  
Administration costs  
Net interest receivable 

Loss before taxation 
Taxation 

105 
(116)   

(1)  

(12)   
(0)  

Retained loss for the period  (12)  

 The goodwill relating to the acquisition of the Yolles group was adjusted in 2005 as follows:   

£000

Goodwill capitalised as at 1 January 2005 
Adjustment to work in progress acquired  
Additional acquisition costs in 2005  

Goodwill capitalised as at 31 December 2005 

9,311 
455    

64   

9,830   
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17 Debtors       

Group Company

Amounts falling due within one year 
2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 

(note 10) 
£000

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Trade debtors   
Amounts recoverable on contracts  
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 
Other debtors   
Prepayments and accrued income 

60,430   
41,104   

-   
3,483   
3,726  

108,743

52,641   
26,077   

-   
4,362  
4,824

87,904    

- 
-   

19,753   
8   
-  

19,761  

-   
-   

20,105   
7   
-  

20,112  

Amounts falling due in more than one year

Deferred taxation  
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 521    468 -  -  

109,264  88,372  19,761  20,112  

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).

 Deferred taxation 
The movement in the total deferred tax asset during the year reconciles as follows: 

£000

Balance at 1 January 2005 

Restatement under FRS 17 (note 10)

As restated

Credit to profit and loss account  

Balance at 31 December 2005  

1,244  

(776)

468

53  

521  

 A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of timing differences relating to tax losses as there is 
insufficient evidence that the losses will be utilised in the foreseeable future. The amount of the asset not recognised is 
£1,200,000 (2004: £700,000). 
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18 Creditors – amounts falling due within one year  

Group Company

2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Bank loans and overdrafts – secured 
Payments on account   
Trade creditors   
Obligations under finance leases  
Amounts owed to associated undertakings 
United Kingdom corporation tax  
Other taxation and social security  
Debentures – unsecured     
Deferred consideration  
Other creditors   
Accruals and deferred income

  

6,026 
40,108   

9,125   
22   

192   
805   

6,949   
76   

3,240   
13,910 

9,511  

89,964  

2,881 
30,468   

3,792  
11   

427   
1,001   
7,695   

90   
2,291   

14,133   
9,629  

72,418  

-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
- 

76   
-   
2   
-  

78  

-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   
-   

90   
-   
-   
- 

90  

 Bank loans and overdrafts are secured by fixed and floating charges over the group’s assets.

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).

 Debentures  
The debentures were issued to the vendors of Crouch Hogg Waterman Limited as part of the purchase consideration. 
They bear interest at 7 per cent per annum and are repayable in half-yearly instalments to each holder after he ceases to be 
employed by the group.

 £16,506 of the debentures may be converted to ordinary shares at the option of the holders at any time. The price of an ordinary 
share to be used as the basis for calculating the number of ordinary shares to be allotted will be equal to net assets per share 
calculated from the figure for shareholders’ funds disclosed in the company’s financial statements at the date of conversion.

Group and company

The movements on debentures were as follows
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Balance at beginning of the year 
Redemptions  

Balance at end of the year

90 
(14)  

76   

98 
(8)  

90  
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19 Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year  

Group Company

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Bank loans   
 Repayable between two and five years 
 Repayable after more than five years 
Obligations under finance leases  
Deferred consideration 
Accruals and deferred income

6,500 
4,388    

-    
6,057    

48   

16,993   

6,500    
3,362    

7    
4,391    

61   

14,321

-    
-    
-    
-    
-   

-

-    
-    
-    
-    
-   

-

 Bank loans 
The bank loans are repayable under fixed instalments. Interest is charged at 1.25 per cent above base rate and the loans are 
secured by fixed and floating charges over the group’s assets.      

 Obligations under finance leases 
Amounts shown above as obligations under finance leases falling due after more than one year are due between the second 
and fifth years inclusive and are secured on the related leased assets. 

 Maturity of financial liabilities 

Group Company

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Less than one year  
Between two and five years   
More than five years 

 

6,048 
6,500    
4,388

16,936

2,892    
6,507 
3,362   

12,761

-    
-    
-   

-

-    
-    
-

-   
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20 Provisions for liabilities and charges     

Group  

At 1 Jan 2005 
Restated 

£000

Charged to profit 
and loss account 

£000
Paid in year 

£000
At 31 Dec 2005 

£000

Property dilapidation 
Excesses on insured claims   
Contract losses  

1,113 
736   

71  

298   
42   

(43) 

(61) 
(13)  

-

1,350 
765   
28  

1,920  297  (74) 2,143  

 Restatement 
During the year the group has implemented FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and the 2004 accounts have been restated accordingly. 
Details of the prior-year adjustments are shown in note 10.

 Company 
The company has no provisions.       

 Details of group provisions are as follows:       

 Property dilapidation 
Provision is made for the expected amount of payments to be made to landlords of properties leased by the group at their 
termination. The relevant leases expire between 2006 and 2015.      

 Excesses on insured claims 
When claims have been made against the group, provision is made for the amount that falls within the excess of the group’s 
professional indemnity insurance policy. The provision will be utilised over the period of the related claim.  

 Contract losses 
Provision is made in accordance with SSAP 9 for contracts whose expected contribution does not include a reasonable 
allocation of overheads. The provision will be utilised over the period of the related contracts.  
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21 Share capital         

Group and company  
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Authorised 
25,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each  
10,000 non-redeemable preference shares of £1 each 

25,000   
10  

25,010  

25,000   
10

25,010    

Allotted and fully paid
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

18,872,013 (2004: 18,669,250) ordinary shares of £1 each  
10,000 non-redeemable preference shares of £1 each

18,872   
10  

18,882  

18,669   
10  

18,679  

Increase in allotted ordinary shares of £1 each 
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

At the beginning of the year 
Allotted to staff under savings-related share option scheme: 
  202,763 (2004: 14,913) ordinary shares of £1 each 

At the end of the year    

18,669   
 

203

18,872    

18,654  
 

15

18,669    

 The preference shares of £1 each are non-redeemable. The holders have no voting rights but have the right, as a class, to 
appoint two directors. They have a non-cumulative right to receive a dividend of 1p per share prior to any distribution to holders 
of the ordinary shares. In the event of a winding up, they have the right to a return of assets to the value of £1 per share before 
any payment to the holders of ordinary shares.       

 Shares allotted during the year were issued for a consideration of £294,006 (2004: £22,770), giving rise to a premium of 
£91,243 (2004: £7,857).       
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22 Share premium account        

Group and company  
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

At the beginning of the year 
On shares issued during the year 

At the end of the year    

1,697   
91

1,788    

1,689 
8  

1,697  

23 Options

 Options in respect of 2,435,462 ordinary shares of £1 each were outstanding at 31 December 2005 (2004: 2,437,533) under the 
group’s savings-related share option scheme. These may be exercised as follows:    

Option price Exercisable
2005 

Number
2004 

Number

145p 
177p 
177p 
189p 
189p 
195p 
195p 
195p 
205p 
205p 
205p 
220p 
220p 
220p

 2005 
 2004  
 2006 
2005  
2007  
2006  
2008  
2010  
2007  
2009  
 2011  
2008  
2010  
2012 

 -  
 -  

 146,361  
 17,385  

486,578  
 153,141  
 425,951  
 196,765  
 159,998  
 270,014  
 117,960  
 157,131  
208,191  
 95,987 

 2,435,462 

 208,677 
 4,488  

152,458  
138,050  
509,046  
168,557  
463,101  
211,903  
171,638  
284,682  
124,933  

 -  
 -  
 - 

 2,437,533 

 In some circumstances, including the redundancy or death of the holder, options may be exercised at earlier 
dates than those shown above.  

24 Profit and loss account   

Group Company

2005 
£000

2005 
£000

At the beginning of the year as previously reported 
Prior-year adjustment (note 10)

At the beginning of the year as restated  
Retained profit/(loss) for the year   
Actuarial loss on pension scheme 

20,714 
(55,011) 

(34,297) 
 5,833 

(20,024) 

9,277   
576

9,853   
(632)  

 -   

At the end of the year  (48,488)  9,221  
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25 Total shareholders’ funds     

Group Company

2005 
£000

2005 
£000

At the beginning of the year as previously reported 
Prior-year adjustment (note 10)

At the beginning of the year as restated  
Profit/(loss) for the year after taxation  
Ordinary dividends   
Allotment of ordinary shares   
Actuarial loss on pension scheme  

41,090 
(55,011) 

(13,921)  
6,449 
(616)  
 294   

(20,024) 

29,653   
576  

30,229 
(16)  

(616)  
 294   

-

At the end of the year  (27,818)  29,891  

Analysis of shareholders’ funds Group Company

2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Equity interests  
Ordinary share capital   
Share premium account   
Profit and loss account   
 

18,872   
 1,788   

(48,488) 

(27,828) 

18,669   
 1,697   

(34,297)

(13,931)  

18,872   
1,788   
9,221  

29,881

18,669   
 1,697   
 9,854

30,220

Non-equity interests 
Preference share capital  

 
10

 
10

 
 10

 
10

(27,818)  (13,921)   29,891   30,230  

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).

26 Net cash inflow from operating activities    

2005 
£000

Restated* 
2004 
£000

Operating profit 
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets  
Amortisation of goodwill    
(Profit)/loss on sale of fixed assets    
Increase in debtors     
Increase/(decrease) in creditors  
Movements in provisions  
Adjustment for pension funding  
Exchange movement on long-term loans

  

12,803 
5,192   
1,235   

(36)   
(15,719)  

9,952 
223   

(4,933) 
(1,051) 

7,666  

10,481 
4,451   

396   
10   

(3,732)  
(5,330)  

231   
(5,227) 

-

1,280   

 *Restated following application of FRS 17 Retirement Benefits and FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date (see note 10).
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27 Reconciliation of cashflow to movement in net funds  

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Decrease in cash in the year   
New bank loans 
Expenses of loan to finance acquisition of Han-Padron Associates LLC 
New finance leases    
Capital element of finance lease payments 
Repayment of debenture loans   

(10,158)  
-   

25 
(22) 

18  
14  

(1,852)  
(9,862) 

- 
-  

44   
8  

Movement in net funds resulting from cash flows  
Exchange movement on long-term loans  

(10,123) 
(1,051) 

(11,174)

(11,662)  
-

(11,662)  

Net funds at the beginning of the year   32  11,694  

Net funds at the end of the year    (11,142) 32

28 Analysis of net funds     

2004 
£000 Cash flow Acquisitions

Other 
non-cash 
changes

2005 
£000

Cash at bank and in hand 
Bank loans and overdrafts   
 Amounts falling due within one year

 
Bank loans and overdrafts   
 Amounts falling due after one year

12,883 
   

(2,881) 

10,002   
 

(9,862)

(7,233)  
 

(3,145) 

(10,378) 
 

25

220 
 
-   

220 
 
-

-   
 
-

-   
 

(1,051)

5,870 
 

(6,026) 

(156)   
 

(10,888)

Obligations under finance leases   
 Amounts falling due within one year  
 Amounts falling due after more than one year

(11) 
(7) 

(11) 
7

- 
-

- 
-

(22)  
-

Debentures 
 Amounts falling due within one year (90) 14 - - (76) 

32  (10,343) 220 (1,051) (11,142) 

 The non-cash movement results from the retranslation of loans denominated in foreign currencies at closing exchange rate.

29 Capital commitments    

Group Company

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Contracted but not provided for in the 
financial statements  

 
 178 

 
 253 

 
-

 
-
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30 Contingent liabilities      

Group Company

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Performance and advance payment bonds 
provided by banks  

Borrowings of subsidiary undertakings for which 
guarantees have been given   

 
 12,932 

  
-

12,932

 
 12,599 

 
 -

 12,599 

 
 - 

 
 4,396 

 4,396 

 
 - 

 
 7,436 

 7,436 

 Where contract values are denominated in foreign currencies, the group in some cases enters into forward exchange contracts 
to protect the sterling value of its future earnings.       

 The company has also provided guarantees on behalf of subsidiary undertakings in respect of property leases entered into in 
the ordinary course of business and has agreed to continue to support certain of its subsidiary undertakings. 

31 Lease commitments 

 At 31 December 2005 the group was committed to making the following payments during the next year in respect 
of operating leases:

Group

Land and buildings 
2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Leases which expire   
 Within one year   
 In second to fifth years   
 After more than five years 

 

 
 171  
 740  

 3,689 

 4,600 

 
 370  
 737  

 3,535 

 4,642 

Other

Leases which expire 
 Within one year 
 In second to fifth years   
 After more than five years 
 
  

 
 82  
627 

 1 

 710 

 
 76  
727 

 1 

 804 

 The company had no operating lease commitments. 

32 Pension commitments        

 The group operates various pension schemes for eligible employees. The assets of all schemes are held separately from those 
of the group and are invested by independent investment managers.     

 The main scheme is the Halcrow Pension Scheme which provides benefits calculated in relation to final pensionable salary. The 
group also sponsors the Pension & Life Assurance Plan of Halcrow Fox & Associates Limited and contributes to the Halcrow 
Rail section of the Railways Pension Scheme, both of which are also defined-benefit arrangements. Contributions are paid to the 
schemes in accordance with the recommendations of independent actuarial advisers.  The most recent valuation of the scheme 
was at 31 December 2002 and the actuary used the projected-unit method.  
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32 Pension commitments  (continued)      

 Over the year to 31 December 2005, contributions by the group of £9,133,000 were made to the main scheme (2004: 
£8,550,000). The group has agreed with the trustees that employer contributions should be paid to the main scheme so that 
total contributions payable by both the members and the employer are initially 36.5 per cent of pensionable salaries from 
January 2006. Although this represents an increase in the percentage rate from 2005, this may not represent an increase 
in terms of the amount of contributions payable, as the pensionable payroll is expected to reduce. It is expected that the 
percentage of pensionable salaries payable is to increase each year. Contributions of £581,000 (2004: £350,000) were made 
to the Halcrow Fox scheme. Contributions of £500,000 (2004: £507,000) were made to the Railways Pension Scheme. Further 
contributions were made to other smaller arrangements.   

 In line with the requirements of FRS 17, published by the Accounting Standards Board in November 2000 and updated in 
November 2002, FRS 17 figures are included in the accounts this year for the first time. The introduction of FRS 17 figures into 
the accounts has been effected by means of a prior-period adjustment, as at 31 December 2003.  

 The following table sets out the key FRS 17 assumptions used for the schemes. The tables below also set out, as at 
31 December 2003, 31 December 2004 and 31 December 2005, the fair value of assets, a breakdown of the assets into the 
main asset classes, the present value of the FRS 17 liabilities and the deficit of assets below the FRS 17 liabilities.

 Assumptions

  2005 2004 2003

Price inflation 
Discount rate   
Pension increases (fixed)   
Pension increases (5% limited price indexation) 
Salary growth (on average)  

2.70% pa 
4.85% pa 
5.00% pa 
2.70% pa 
3.70% pa

2.60% pa 
5.50% pa 
5.00% pa 
2.50% pa 
3.60% pa

2.50% pa 
5.80% pa 
5.00% pa 
2.40% pa 
3.50% pa

 On the basis of the assumptions used for life expectancy, a male pensioner currently aged 60 would be expected to live for a 
further 23.4 years (2004: 22.3 years). Allowance is made for future improvements in life expectancy, so a pensioner reaching the 
age of 60 in 2025 would be expected to live for a further 24.8 years.

 Asset distribution and expected return       

31 December 2005

Expected return

Fair value 
(schemes 
in deficit) 

£000

Components 
Equities   
Bonds   
Property   
Other  

7.8% pa 
4.2% pa 
6.0% pa 
4.2% pa

218,014   
69,973   
19,400   

1,582  

Balance sheet 
Total fair value of assets  
Present value of liabilities  

308,969   
(414,640) 

(Deficit)/surplus in the schemes  
Related deferred tax  

(105,671)  
31,701  

Net pension (liabilities)/asset  (73,970) 
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32 Pension commitments (continued) 

31 December 2004

Expected return

Fair value 
(schemes 
in deficit) 

£000

Components 
Equities   
Bonds   
Property   
Other  

8.0% pa 
4.7% pa 
6.3% pa 
4.7% pa

171,557   
52,554   
16,900   
14,300  

Balance sheet 
Total fair value of assets  
Present value of liabilities  

255,311 
(337,310) 

(Deficit)/surplus in the schemes  
Related deferred tax  

(81,999)  
24,600  

Net pension (liabilities)/asset  (57,399) 

31 December 2003

Expected return

Fair value 
(schemes in 

deficit) 
£000

Fair value 
(scheme in 

surplus) 
£000

Components 
Equities   
Bonds   
Property   
Other  

8.6% pa 
5.2% pa 
6.7% pa 
4.6% pa

151,844 
41,409   
14,300   
16,050  

2,700 
300   

-   
100  

Balance sheet 
Total fair value of assets  
Present value of liabilities  

223,603   
(297,318) 

3,100 
(2,900)

(Deficit)/surplus in the schemes  
Related deferred tax  

(73,715)  
22,114  

200 
(60) 

Net pension (liabilities)/asset  (51,601) 140  

 Under FRS 17, the schemes are represented on the balance sheet as net pension liabilities of £73,690,000 (2004: £57,399,000) 
and a net pension asset of £nil (2004: £nil).     
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32 Pension commitments (continued) 

 The post-retirement deficit under FRS 17 moved over the period as follows:     

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Post-retirement deficit at the beginning of the year  
Current service cost  

(81,999) 
(7,368)  

(73,515) 
(6,965) 

Contributions including those of employees 
Other net finance costs   
Actuarial loss

12,826 
(525)  

(28,605)

12,192 
(158)  

(13,553) 

Post-retirement deficit at the end of the year  (105,671) (81,999) 

 The following amounts have been included within operating profit under FRS 17:    

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Current service cost  
Employee contributions

Total operating charge    

7,368 
(2,545) 

4,823  

6,965   
(2,920) 

4,045  

 The following amounts have been included as net finance (costs)/income under FRS 17:   

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Expected return on pension scheme assets 
Interest on post-retirement liabilities 

Net return to (charge)/credit to finance (costs)/income 

17,198   
(17,723) 

(525) 

16,574   
(16,732)

(158)  

 The following amounts have been recognised within the statement of total recognised gains and losses (STRGL) under FRS 17:

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets 
Experience gains and losses arising on scheme liabilities 
Loss due to changes in assumptions underlying the value of scheme liabilities

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the STRGL  

32,793 
(1,432) 

(59,966) 

(28,605)

7,110 
200 

(20,863) 

(13,553) 
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32 Pension commitments (continued) 

 The history of experience gains and losses is:      

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

2003 
£000

2002 
£000

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets

Percentage of scheme assets  

Experience gains (and losses) arising on schemes’ liabilities 

Percentage of the value of the schemes’ liabilities 

Total amount recognised in the STRGL  

Percentage of the value of the schemes’ liabilities 

32,793   
 

10.61% 
 

(1,432)  
 

(0.35%) 
 

(28,605)  
 

(6.90%)

7,110  

2.78%

200  

0.06%

(13,553) 

(4.02%)

15,467  

6.82%

4,810  

1.60%

421  

0.14%

(44,323)

(22.65%)

(5,984)

(2.22%)

(50,307)

(18.64%)

 The above percentages show the STRGL components as a percentage of the end-of-year schemes’ asset or liability value, 
as appropriate.      

 All schemes are closed to new entrants and, under the method used to calculate pension costs in accordance with FRS 17, the 
cost as a percentage of covered pensionable payroll, before deduction of employee contributions, will tend to increase as the 
average age of the membership increases. 

 The effect of retirement benefits on operating profit calculated in accordance with FRS 17 is included in the financial statements 
as follows:

2005 
£000

Funded defined-benefit schemes

Defined contribution schemes

Charge per note 6b

5,130

1,970

7,100

33 Assets pledged       

 The group has granted fixed and floating charges over all its assets as security for banking facilities.  

34 Subsequent events 

 On 31 January 2006 the group purchased 100 per cent of the share capital of Transys International Consultants Limited, 
a consultancy based in Canada, for a consideration of CA$1,105,000.

 The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 is calculated at 10p on 3,643,000 shares (2004: 
2,932,000). This is the estimated number of shares that will be held by shareholders eligible to receive the dividend. Under 
FRS 21 Events After the Balance Sheet Date, the financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable, which will be 
accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ended 31 December 2006.
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35 Related party transactions

 Joint ventures 
In the course of its normal operations, the group has contracted on an arm’s-length basis with Halcrow Water Services Limited, 
which is a joint venture. The transactions which have not been disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements are shown below:

2005 
£000

2004 
£000

Sales 
Purchases

222 
1,661

245 
2,930

 There was an amount of £8,000 owed to Halcrow Water Services Limited by the group at 31 December 2005 (2004: £187,000).

 There were no transactions with, or amounts due to or by, Vituki Consult Rt or Halcrow (Shanghai) Engineering Consulting 
Corporation Limited at 31 December 2005 (2004: nil).  

 Associated undertakings 
There were no significant transactions with Davy British Rail International Limited during the year. There was an interest-free loan 
of £184,000 owed to Davy British Rail International Limited at 31 December 2005 (2004: £184,000).  

 The Halcrow Trust 
An amount of £1,075,000 was owed by the group to the Halcrow Trust at 31 December 2005 (2004: £12,000 owed to 
the group).
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36 Principal subsidiary and associated undertakings and joint ventures

Subsidiary undertakings   Percentage owned

Halcrow Group Limited*    
Halcrow Canada Inc*     
Halcrow Consulting Limited     
Halcrow Asia Partnership Limited*    
Halcrow Asia Limited*     
Halcrow China Limited*     
Halcrow International Limited*     
Halcrow International Partnership*  
Halcrow Group Ireland Limited* 
Halcrow Management Sciences Limited*    
Halcrow Pacific Pty Limited*    
Halcrow Rural Management Limited*    
HPA Inc*      
Sir William Halcrow & Partners Inc*    
Sir William Halcrow & Partners (Malaysia) Limited*   
Yolles Partnership Inc*     
Yolles Partnership Limited*     
Burderop Investments Limited      

Joint ventures 

Halcrow Water Services Limited*    
Vituki Consult Rt*      
Halcrow (Shanghai) Engineering Consulting Corporation Limited* 

Associated undertakings     
Davy British Rail International Limited*    
Halcrow ULG Limited*  
All holdings are of ordinary shares. 
 
*Indicates that the shares are held by an intermediate holding company. 

100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100%

Percentage owned

49% 
33% 
50%

  
40% 
50% 

 
 
 

All these undertakings are registered in England except:  
 
Halcrow Pacific Pty Limited 
Halcrow Group Ireland Limited   
Halcrow China Limited     
Sir William Halcrow & Partners Inc     
Halcrow Canada Inc     
HPA Inc     
Yolles Partnership Inc     
Vituki Consult Rt     
Pyramid Development International Corporation Limited   
Halcrow (Shanghai) Engineering Consulting Corporation Limited

Country of registration

Australia 
Republic of Ireland 

Hong Kong 
USA 

Canada 
USA 

Canada 
Hungary 
Thailand 

China
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36 Principal subsidiary and associated undertakings and joint ventures (continued)

 The principal country of operation of all these undertakings is Great Britain, except the following undertakings which operate 
in the areas indicated:       

Halcrow Asia Partnership Limited 
Halcrow Asia Limited     
Halcrow International Partnership 
Halcrow Group Ireland Limited  
Halcrow Pacific Pty Limited     
Halcrow Rural Management Limited     
Sir William Halcrow & Partners Inc     
HPA Inc     
Sir William Halcrow & Partners (Malaysia) Limited     
Halcrow China Limited     
Vituki Consult Rt     
Halcrow ULG Limited     
Pyramid Development International Corporation Limited    
Halcrow (Shanghai) Engineering Consulting Corporation Limited  

East Asia   
East Asia   
Middle East  
Republic of Ireland  
Australia   
Worldwide  
USA   
USA   
East Asia   
East Asia   
Eastern Europe  
East Asia   
East Asia   
East Asia  

 The principal activity of all the above undertakings is the supply of services as consulting engineers, except for Burderop 
Investments Limited whose principal activity is property investment. 
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Worldwide

Argentina 
Buenos Aires 
Sergio Sour 
tel +54 11 4311 4911 
fax +54 11 4312 5819 
email halcrowba@halcrow.com

Australia 
Melbourne 
Howard Lacy 
tel +61 3 9899 9777 
fax +61 3 9899 1214 
email lacyha@halcrow.com.au

Sydney 
Chris Adams 
tel +61 2 9250 9900 
fax +61 2 9241 2228 
email adamscg@halcrow.com.au

Bahrain 
David Aldis 
tel +973 826976   
fax +973 827589 
email aldisdg@halcrow.com or 
halcrow@batelco.com.bh

Bangladesh 
Dhaka 
Ghulam Mustafa 
tel +880 2 882 1877 or 988 2625 
fax +880 2 882 3663 
email halcrow@bangla.net

Belize 
Belmopan City 
Ian Rowdon 
tel +501 822 1362 
fax +501 822 2001 
email rowdonij@halcrow.com

Brazil 
Rio de Janeiro 
Augusto Guimaraes 
tel +55 21 2240 2700 
fax +55 21 2240 2700 ext 201 
email halcrowbrasil@halcrow.com

Canada 
Toronto 
Cathy Spark 
tel +1 416 363 8123 
fax +1 416 363 0341 
email cathy.spark@halcrowyolles.com

Vancouver 
Jim Chim 
tel +1 604 293 2882 
fax +1 604 293 2892 
email jim.chim@halcrow.com

Chile 
Santiago 
Alejandro Labbe  
tel +56 2 658 5094 
fax +56 2 658 5095 
email labbeaa@halcrow.com

China 
Beijing 
Cathy Hu 
tel +86 10 6263 9381 
fax +86 10 6263 8957 
email beijingoffice@halcrow.sina.net

Chongqing 
Guo Ping Yang 
tel +86 23 6298 2552 
fax +86 23 6298 2581 
email gp_yang@yahoo.com

Hong Kong SAR 
Ganwei Chen 
tel +825 2802 9228 
fax +852 2827 8352 
email hapadmin@halcrow.com.hk

Shanghai  
Wendy Zhu 
tel +86 21 6390 3920 
fax +86 21 6390 2089 
email zhuw@halcrow.com.hk

Shenzhen 
Hong Wu 
tel +86 755 8297 9070 
fax +86 755 8338 2696 
email wuh@halcrow.com.hk

Hungary 
Budapest 
János Fehér 
tel +361 216 5811 
fax +361 215 2245 
email feher.janos@vituki-consult.hu

India 
New Delhi 
David Birch 
tel +91 11 2983 4944 
fax +91 11 2984 5881 
email hgldelhi@halcrow.com or 
halcrowg@vsnl.com

Ireland 
Dublin 
Sam McCurdy 
tel +353 1 403 3600 
fax +353 1 459 4357 
email mccurdys@halcrow.com

Latvia 
Riga 
Viktor Brenners 
tel +371 732 0234 
fax +371 732 0235 
email hb@halcrow.com

Libya 
Tripoli 
Giuma Ben Mahmoud 
tel +218 21 444 1322 
fax +218 213 332 172 
email halcrow@lttnet.net

Malaysia 
Kuala Lumpur 
Norzalina Sulaiman 
tel +60 3 6201 5402 
fax +60 3 6201 4406 
email halcrowkl@halcrow.com

Nepal 
Kathmandu 
Madan Shrestha 
tel +977 1 435 0509 
fax +977 1 435 0509 
email nepal@halcrow.wlink.com.np

Pakistan 
Islamabad 
Abbas Hassan 
tel +92 51 220 3451 
fax +92 51 220 3462 
email isb@halcrowpk.com.pk

Philippines 
Makati City 
Mary Rose Botante 
tel +63 2 819 5231 
fax +63 2 750 0468 
email halcrow@halcrow.com.ph

Poland 
Warsaw 
Jaroslaw Karpiejuk 
tel +48 22 630 8379  
fax +48 22 625 4211 
email karpiejukj@halcrow.com

Offices and contacts
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Qatar 
Doha 
Stewart Hay 
tel +974 4420 507 
fax +974 4421 898 
email hays@halcrow.com or 
halcrow@qatar.net.qa

Romania 
Bucharest 
George Pana 
tel +40 21 211 1871 
fax +40 21 210 3013 
email panag@halcrow.com

Russia 
St Petersburg 
David Edwards 
tel +7 812 332 1378 
fax +7 812 332 1377 
email edwardsd@halcrow.com

South Korea 
Seoul 
Andrea Choi 
tel +82 2 779 5437 
fax +82 2 779 5439 
email choia@halcrow.com

Saint Lucia 
Castries 
Mandish Singh 
tel +1 758 452 1112 
fax +1 758 453 1454 
email halcrows@candw.lc

Syria 
Jim Fyvie 
tel +971 4 3140 249 
fax +971 4 337 9239 
email fyviejd@halcrow.com

Thailand 
Bangkok 
Ali Adam 
tel +66 (0)2 676 3830 
fax +66 (0)2 676 3832 
email adamas@halcrow.com

United Arab Emirates 
Abu Dhabi 
Ian McLennan 
tel +971 2 679 0804 
fax +971 2 678 5422 
email hme-abudhabi@halcrow.com

Dubai 
Jim Sokolowski 
tel +971 4 337 0380    
fax +971 4 337 9239  
email sokolowskija@halcrow.com or 
hme-dubai@halcrow.com

Sharjah 
John Farrer 
tel +971 6 573 4333 
fax +971 6 573 2999  
email farrerj@halcrow.com or  
hme-sharjah@halcrow.com

United Kingdom 
Birmingham 
Peter Robery 
tel +44 (0)121 456 2345 
fax +44 (0)121 456 1569 
email birmingham@halcrow.com

Bristol 
Chris Kearns 
tel +44 (0)117 938 9300 
fax +44 (0)117 938 9315 
email bristol@halcrow.com

Cardiff 
Barrie Jones 
tel +44 (0)29 2072 0920 
fax +44 (0)29 2072 0880 
email cardiff@halcrow.com

Chichester 
Rachel Fowler 
tel +44 (0)1243 649 900 
fax +44 (0)1243 538 105 
email chichester@halcrow.com

Crawley 
Catherine Merlane 
tel +44 (0)1293 434 500 
fax +44 (0)1293 434 599 
email merlanecn@halcrow.com

Derby 
Lesley Dhindsa 
tel +44 (0)1332 222 620 
fax +44 (0)1332 222 621 
email dhindsal@halcrow.com

Edinburgh 
Ron Beard 
tel +44 (0)131 272 3300 
fax +44 (0)131 272 3301 
email beardra@halcrow.com

Exeter 
Sarah Dawe 
tel +44 (0)1392 444 252 
fax +44 (0)1392 444 301 
email exeter@halcrow.com

Glasgow 
Donald Bell 
tel +44 (0)141 552 2000 
fax +44 (0)141 552 2525 
email glasgow@halcrow.com

Handforth 
John Daly 
tel +44 (0)1625 540 456 
fax +44 (0)1625 549 325 
email dalyj@halcrow.com

Inverness  
John Walker 
tel +44 (0)1463 231 707 
fax +44 (0)1463 243 726 
email inverness@halcrow.com

Leeds 
Sharon Watt 
tel +44 (0)113 220 8220 
fax +44 (0)113 274 2924 
email leeds@halcrow.com

London  
Matthew Wernham 
Vineyard House 
tel +44 (0)20 7602 7282 
fax +44 (0)20 7603 0095 
email halcrow@halcrow.com

Deborah Wright 
Shortlands 
tel +44 (0)20 8233 3800 
fax +44 (0)20 8233 3801 
email halcrow@halcrow.com

Newcastle and Gateshead 
David Wood 
tel +44 (0)191 487 3555 
fax +44 (0)191 487 5818 
email tyne&wear@halcrow.com

Norwich 
Kevin Marsh 
tel +44 (0)1603 226 161 
fax +44 (0)1603 631 505 
email halcrow@edmund-nuttall.co.uk

Peterborough 
Gareth Heatley 
tel +44 (0)1733 560 03 
fax +44 (0)1733 427 988 
email peterborough@halcrow.com

Plymouth 
Steve Burge 
tel +44 (0)1752 502 980 
fax +44 (0)1752 502 989 
email plymouth@halcrow.com

Reading 
Paul Grant 
tel +44 (0)118 965 0100 
fax +44 (0)118 957 6918 
email surveyreading@halcrow.com
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Snodland 
Thas Athanasiou 
tel +44 (0)1634 244 114 
fax +44 (0)1634 244 388 
email info@halcrowws.com

Stockton-on-Tees 
David Wood 
tel +44 (0)1642 632 800 
fax +44 (0)1642 632 801 
email teesvalley@halcrow.com or 
halcrow@teesside.com

Swindon 
Garry Whitaker 
tel +44 (0)1793 812 479 
fax +44 (0)1793 812 089 
email halcrow@halcrow.com

Waltham Cross 
Roland Grzybek 
tel +44 (0)1992 707 100 
fax +44 (0)1992 760 594 
email walthamcross@halcrow.com

Worcester 
Chris Kearns 
tel +44 (0)1905 361 361 
fax +44 (0)1905 361 362 
email worcester@halcrow.com

York 
Carol Snowden  
Lendal 
tel +44 (0)1904 559 900 
fax +44 (0)1904 559 901 
email snowdenc@halcrow.com

Carol Snowden  
Museum Street 
tel +44 (0)1904 559 900 
fax +44 (0)1904 613 998 
email snowdenc@halcrow.com

United States of America 
Houston 
Michael Praught 
tel +1 832 242 3816 
fax +1 832 242 3818 
email mpraught@han-padron.com

Jacksonville 
Paul Starr 
tel +1 904 733 3180 
fax +1 904 733 3343 
email pstarr@hpa.com

Las Vegas 
Stephan Kordt 
tel +1 702 253 6617 
fax +1 702 253 0031 
email stephan.kordt@halcrowyolles.com

Long Beach 
Ken Forssen 
tel +1 562 493 8300 
fax +1 562 493 8308 
email kenforssen@han-padron.com

New York 
Helga Junold 
tel +1 212 608 4963 
fax +1 212 566 5059 
email junoldh@halcrow.com

Jonathan Goldstick 
tel +1 212 608 3990 
fax +1 212 566 5059 
email jgoldstick@hpa.com

Oakland 
Gayle Johnson 
tel +1 510 452 0040 
fax +1 510 452 0041 
email gjohnson@han-padron.com

Tampa 
Todd Stockberger 
tel +1 813 876 6800 
fax +1 813 876 6700 
email tstockberger@hpa.com

Washington 
Bob Ulrich 
tel +1 703 351 5025 
fax +1 703 312 7068 
email ulrichr@halcrow.com

Venezuela 
Caracas 
Paul Nixon 
tel +58 212 266 5322 
fax +58 212 267 5827 
email venezuela@halcrow.com

Vietnam 
Hanoi City 
Tuyet Bach Cao  
tel +84 4 942 6680 
fax +84 4 942 6681 
email halcrow@fpt.vn


